Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Everlyne Nyagaya

11/29/2017_ Date

DIGITAL INTEROPERABILITY WITH FHIR API, DISEASE SURVEILLANCE,

AND CLIMATE CHANGE

By

Everlyne Nyagaya MPH

RSPH

Laurie Gaydos Committee Chair

Mark Conde J Committee Member

Melissa Alperin Committee Member

DIGITAL INTEROPERABILITY WITH FHIR API, DISEASE SURVEILLANCE, AND CLIMATE CHANGE

By

Everlyne Nyagaya

BSc KCA University, Kenya 2013

Thesis Committee Chair: Laurie Gaydos, PhD

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Applied Public Health Informatics 2017

Abstract

DIGITAL INTEROPERABILITY WITH FHIR API, DISEASE SURVEILLANCE, AND CLIMATE CHANGE

By Everlyne Nyagaya

The foundation of public health interoperability requires integration and interoperability at both structural and semantic levels. Many countries are now implementing EHRs that subscribe to HL7 standards and FHIR resources. This area still has potential for enhancing interoperability and strengthening surveillance for emerging and re-emerging epidemics like Zika, Ebola in low resource settings. Global warming and climate change across the globe is not only affecting animals and plants, but is affecting the distribution of diseases and prevalence of diseases across the globe. As a result, technologies that can work best in rugged terrains are required for management and control of emerging and re-emerging epidemics. Wide area network optimization technologies and FHIR APIs for data pull models are required to enhance data collection and reporting for better management of disease outbreaks.

DIGITAL INTEROPERABILITY WITH FHIR API, DISEASE SURVEILLANCE,

AND CLIMATE CHANGE

By

Everlyne Nyagaya

BSc KCA University, Kenya 2013

Thesis Committee Chair: Laurie Gaydos, PhD

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Applied Public Health Informatics 2017

Table of Contents	
1.0 BENEFITS OF INTEROPERABILITY	1
1.1 INTEROPERABILITY WITH FHIR API	2
1.2 DELIVERABLE	2
2.0 EXPLORING FHIR FOR PUBLIC HEALTH IN DEVELOPING COUNTI	RIES
	4
3.0 SURVEILLANCE IN LOW RESOURCE SETTINGS	7
4.0 CLIMATE CHANGE AND PUBLIC HEALTH	10
4.1 CLIMATE CHANGE AND ZIKA VIRUS	10
4.2 CLIMATE CHANGE AND FRESHWATER BRAIN EATING AMOEBA	13
4.2.1PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS	14
4.3 RECOMMENDATIONS	14
5.0 CONSIDERATIONS	16
REFERENCES	17
INTEROPERABILITY WITH FHIR API	17
SUDVEILLANCE IN LOW DESCUDCE SETTINCS	10 III.
CLIMATE CHANCE AND DUDI IC HEALTH	19
ULIMATE UNANGE AND FUBLIU HEALTH	20
	20
BKAIN EATING AMOEBA	23

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Proposed system model: FHIR API for OpenMRS and Research study databa	ase
	3
Figure 2: OpenMRS Atlas	5
Figure 3: OpenMRS FHIR Module	5
Figure 4: OpenMRS current FHIR support status	6
Figure 5: Clinical Patient Administration Kit Components	7
Figure 6: Clinical Patient Administration Kit network architecture	8
Figure 7: OpenMRS Components	8
Figure 8: Flu Surveillance using OpenMRS, CliniPAK, & WAN optimization using	
riverbed	9
Figure 9: Naegleris Fowleri survival temperatures	. 13
Figure 10: United States PAM Statistics as at 2017	. 14

PORTFOLIO DELIVERABLES SUMMARY DOCUMENT

DIGITAL INTEROPERABILITY, DISEASE SURVEILLANCE, AND CLIMATE CHANGE 1. INTRODUCTION

Digital interoperability means the ability of health information systems to work together within and across organizational boundaries in order to advance the health status of, and the effective delivery of healthcare for, individuals and community. Interoperability is an area with great potential in strengthening surveillance for emerging and re-emerging epidemics like Zika and Ebola in low resource settings.

The foundation of complete public health interoperability will require integration and interoperability both at structural and semantic levels. This will ensure secure reliable and consistent exchange of data between devices, application platforms not only for routine patient care but also enhance surveillance of emerging and re-emerging epidemics.

1.0 BENEFITS OF INTEROPERABILITY

The full potential of digital health will require opening up of health system architectures for semantic interoperability. This will require common interfaces for plug and play devices to integrate information into healthcare systems and a standard interoperable interface to exchange data between back-end solutions.

Semantic interoperability will ensure

- 1. Easier and faster access to patient's information
- 2. Opportunities for better diagnosis, quality of treatment and patient safety
- 3. Improved cost effectiveness
- 4. Increased consumer choice and enhanced competition

1.1 INTEROPERABILITY WITH FHIR API

Fast Healthcare interoperability Resource is a proposed interoperability standard developed by the healthcare IT standards body HL7.Health level seven international (HL7) is a non-profit, ANSI- accredited standards developing organization dedicated to providing a comprehensive framework and related standards for exchange, integration, sharing, and retrieval of electronic health information.

Interoperability with FHIR business case proposes the implementation of this standard in an NGO with a public health mission in HIV/AIDS care and treatment and research to bring together communities within HIV programs. This will involve interoperability using FHIR specifications to explore capabilities of open source EHRs in developing to embrace FHIR specifications for solving interoperability and integration problems between EHR, HIE, LIS, and Portal applications to improve patient care, research/clinical trials, and public health surveillance by providing a much wider platform availability and dissemination of health-related information between developing and developed countries

1.2 DELIVERABLE

The proposed system will focus on open MRS FHIR API and research and studies database as well as the mobile applications for contact tracing and laboratory Information system. Open MRS system can update few resources like a person, patient, practitioner, location, encounter, observation, allergy intolerance, and laboratory and radiology diagnosis into FHIR repository with the Help of HTTP PUT and POST operations while doing CRUD operations on these objects in their database. These resources can then be bundled together in the context of patient portal that can query FHIR server for these resources to update and copy each time. This can also be done for the mobile application for read-only view of patient information and basic clinical data.

RESTFUL API will be used to meet Application Access certification criteria where serialized JSON response of FHIR resources will be used to generate exchange data for research database application



Figure 1: Proposed system model: FHIR API for OpenMRS and Research study database

2.0 EXPLORING FHIR FOR PUBLIC HEALTH IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES

FHIR for public health is still a gray area that needs to be explored. As at 2017 public health workgroup is working to support the HL7 mission to create and promote standards by helping to assure that HL7 V2 and V3 models, messages, documents, and services address the requirements of public health agencies, government and none government specific interest areas. These areas are not limited to outbreak investigations, disease and event detection, response and control, human an animal population health monitoring, vital records among others.

Open Medical Records System (OpenMRS) is an efficient electronic medical record (EMR) storage and retrieval systems for treating the millions of HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis (TB) patients in the developing world. OpenMRS subscribes to HL7 and has begun to implement FHIR resources. This presents a step towards utilization of EMR that subscribe to FHIR resources in developing countries to improve public health surveillance.



Figure 2: OpenMRS Atlas

OpenMRS Wiki Spaces - Pe	ople Browse -	Browse -				
ocumentation rojects esources		Projects / Home / Active Projects OpenMRS FHIR Module				
et Help from Others	Created by	Suranga Kasthurirathne, las	t modified on 2015-09-14			
&A: Ask OpenMRS » iscussion: OpenMRS Talk »	Project Cha	mpion	@ Paul Biondich			
eal-Time: IRC Chat	FHIR Guru	mentor	@ Grahame Grieve			
rojects	Domain ex	ert / mentor	@ Suranga Kasthurirathne, @ Harsha Kumara			
Active Projects						
 CamEMR 	Other inter	sted parties / experts	@ Andrew Kanter for MVP CIEL Dictionary			
 Chart Search for the Reference Application - Phase 2 			@ Burke Mamlin			
Cohort Module			@ Roger Friedman			
 Condition List (Design Page) 			@ Darius Jazayeri			
Configurable Clinical Summary						

Figure 3: OpenMRS FHIR Module

Current status of FHIR support

To date, the FHIR module supports the following resources and actions.

Resource	Person	Patient	Practitioner	Location	Encounter	Observation	AllergyIntolerance	DiagnosticReport (Laboratory)	Diagnostic (Radiology
GET	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
POST	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes			
UPDATE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes		Yes	Yes
DELETE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Operations	N/A	\$everything	N/A	N/A	\$everything	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

Figure 4: OpenMRS current FHIR support status

3.0 SURVEILLANCE IN LOW RESOURCE SETTINGS

This project looks at integration and utilization of already existing application to manage disease outbreak like flu in low resource settings. EMRs like Open Medical Records System (OpenMRS) and Clinical Patient Administration Kit (CliniPAK) have been used in low resource setting for case management during a disease outbreak. Open MRS has been customized and used during Ebola surveillance in Sierra Leone. CliniPAK has been used in a very remote setting with inadequate power supply and Internet connection for case management and patient follow up.

Source: https://www.vecnacares.org/solutions/clinipak/



Figure 5: Clinical Patient Administration Kit Components

Source: https://www.vecnacares.org/solutions/clinipak/



Figure 6: Clinical Patient Administration Kit network architecture



Figure 7: OpenMRS Components

This project was aimed at integrating CliniPAK and Open MRS to support flue surveillance in the Caribbean while utilizing Riverbed technology for Wide Area network optimization. Riverbed technology can be deployed on-site, in the cloud, and any other place where CliniPAK and Open MRS may be located. Riverbed is critical in connecting remote users to the hospital office server and cloud storage data center.



Figure 8: Flu Surveillance using OpenMRS, CliniPAK, & WAN optimization using riverbed

4.0 CLIMATE CHANGE AND PUBLIC HEALTH

Climate Change across the globe is not only affecting animals and plants but is affecting the distribution of diseases and prevalence of diseases across the world. New health threats are emerging in various parts of the world. While not everyone has an equal risk of contracting these diseases, it is important to consider the impact of these emerging and reemerging epidemics and prepare adequately to manage and control the spread of these epidemics using systems that can talk to each other.

The two scenarios considered for my portfolio project were climate change and Zika virus and climate change and brain eating amoebae. Some of the highlights on public health implications and control measures are as follows;

4.1 CLIMATE CHANGE AND ZIKA VIRUS

In 2016, The World Health Organization declared ZIKV infection to be an international public health emergency. However, there has not been significant evidence suggesting that Zika is the cause of microcephaly, which can lead to severe neurological sequelae in babies. "ZIKV is transmitted to humans primarily through the bite of infected mosquitoes, Aedes aegypti, and Aedes albopictus. These mosquitoes are the principal vectors of dengue and ZIKV disease." The signs and symptoms of ZIKV are usually mild and develop in only one in five persons. Severity requiring hospitalization is uncommon and case fatality is relatively low. Currently, there is no vaccine and antiviral treatment available for ZIKV infection. The only way to prevent ZIKV infection is to prevent maternal infection. ZIKV has been activated as a category V Notifiable Infectious Disease similar to Ebola virus and MERS. To control ZIKV, CDC has issued Travel health notice targeting pregnant women,

for the following countries, Cape Verde, Mexico, Africa (Angola, and Guinea-Bissau), Asia (Maldives, and Singapore), The Caribbean, Central America, The Pacific Islands, and South America along with other risk areas. Affected countries have developed ZIKV surveillance systems among pregnant women. America and Puerto Rico have implemented ZIKV registries.

4.1.1 CONTROL AND PREVENTION

Since there is no vaccine to control ZIKV, The best way to prevent ZIKV spread by mosquitoes is through personal preventive measures that are preventing mosquito bites using repellents, use of insecticides treated mosquito nets, and wearing the right clothing. These control measures target pregnant women and their babies as the most vulnerable populations. The alternative control measure is source reduction, targeting mosquitobreeding habitats. As of January 2017, U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) presented a draft Programmatic Environmental Assessment (PEA) proposal to support mosquito control activities to combat Zika virus in the United States. This Act was guided by the relevant legislation and agency including U.S Public health service Act, The National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, Endangered species Act, Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act, HHS General Administration Manual (GAM) part 30 Environmental protection, and Emergency and the National Environmental Policy Act, May 10,2010. Two alternatives were reviewed for the assessment. The alternative that was meant to enhance support for Integrated Mosquito Management that includes CDC supporting either directly or through technical and/or financial assistance mosquito control activities of territorial, tribal, state and local government was considered.

4.1.2 RECOMMENDATION AND CONCLUSION

With an Unknown real scope of complications, additional research on ZIKV pathogenesis is paramount. Measures of control already being implemented include ongoing surveillance, development, and distribution of better diagnostic test, provision of guidance, and advice on strengthening mosquito control, and source reduction efforts. CDC experts are working to protect pregnant women better understand the link between ZIKV infection and adverse health outcomes. WHO/PAHO have continued to recommend member states to enhance surveillance systems for the detection of this virus. Future prevention of ZIKV will largely depend on vaccine research development.

4.2 CLIMATE CHANGE AND FRESHWATER BRAIN EATING AMOEBA

Climate Change across the globe is not only affecting animals and plants but is affecting the distribution of diseases and prevalence of diseases across the world. Potential warming of freshwater bodies due to climate change has expanded the occurrence of water-borne diseases into new regions. Thermophilic organisms like Naegleria fowleri that can survive in temperatures up to 115°F (46°C) have the opportunity to thrive as freshwater bodies' heat up.



Figure 9: Naegleria Fowleri survival temperatures

In this regard, Naegleria fowleri is found in warm freshwater and soil around the world, and in the United States southern tiers. Due to climate change, recent cases of Naegleria fowleri infections have been reported in a Northern tier state of Minnesota. This case had no history of travel. From 1962 to 2016 only 4 people out of 143 known infected individuals in the United States have survived. CDC rates infection fatality at 97%.



Figure 10: United States PAM Statistics as at 2017

4.2.1PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS

Since this disease effects, recreational swimmers in swimming pools that are not properly treated, ponds, lakes, and rivers worldwide and it is unknown as to why some who are exposed are infected while others are not, the potentially affected is millions who swim in these waters worldwide during warmer months. Both in the U.S. and globally, PAM caused by Naegleria fowleri has historically affected mostly younger males

4.3 RECOMMENDATIONS

Control and prevention of PAM have been made difficult due to rarity and ubiquity of cases observed. Infection risk is very low. In a period of 10 years, 40 cases have been reported in the U.S. Many cases in developing countries are unreported.

"Attempts has been made to determine what concentration of Naegleria fowleri in the environment poses an unacceptable risk" No method exists that can accurately measure the numbers of amoebae in the water. This has made it difficult to set standards to protect human health and how public health officials would measure and enforce any standard. That said, Naegleria fowleri is associated with Climate change. Climate change laws and legislation, and climate change indicators in developing and developed countries can help further prevent the spread of thermophilic organisms in freshwater bodies and soil. Countries that do not have legislative instruments to directly address climate change should be encouraged to implement these laws through acts of parliament agreements. The Paris agreement is one such law. Climate change law can also be incorporated into general environmental regulation and policies.

5.0 CONSIDERATIONS

As FHIR specifications continue to grow and evolve. Many large IT companies are also embracing and provide support for FHIR. The EHR supported by IT companies are being implemented across the globe both in developed and developing countries. It is known that interoperability of Health IT systems has continued to be a challenge. FHIR resources for public health still remain a gray area even among FHIR implementers. In my view, this area still has the potential for enhancing interoperability and strengthening surveillance for emerging and re-emerging epidemics like Ebola and Zika in low resource settings. The foundation of complete public health interoperability will require integration and interoperability both at structural and semantic levels. This will ensure secure reliable and consistent exchange of data between devices, application platforms not only for routine patient care but also enhance surveillance of emerging and re-emerging epidemics.

Use of emerging and existing technologies for public health surveillance will ensure that we have adequate systems at all level to manage and control emerging and re-emerging epidemics that may result from climate change.

REFERENCES

INTEROPERABILITY WITH FHIR API

Mamlin, B. W., Biondich, P. G., Wolfe, B. A., Fraser, H., Jazayeri, D., Allen, C., ... Tierney, W. M. (2006). Cooking Up An Open Source EMR For Developing Countries: OpenMRS – A Recipe For Successful Collaboration. *AMIA Annual Symposium Proceedings*, 2006, 529–533.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1839638/

H. (2017, July 17). 4 Basics to Know about the Role of FHIR in Interoperability. Retrieved October 22, 2017, from <u>https://healthitanalytics.com/news/4-basics-to-know-about-the-role-of-fhir-in-interoperability</u>

Sifuna, P., Oyugi, M., Ogutu, B., Andagalu, B., Otieno, A., Owira, V., ... Otieno, W. (2014). Health & Demographic Surveillance System Profile: The Kombewa Health and Demographic Surveillance System (Kombewa HDSS). *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *43*(4), 1097–1104. <u>http://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyu139</u>

OpenMRS FHIR Module - Initial design - Projects - OpenMRS Wiki. (n.d.). Retrieved November 12, 2017, from

https://www.bing.com/cr?IG=61149CAD38B5407EBAE80291745B136B&CID=33BFC 67E9C95683C0FA7CD479D936997&rd=1&h=a72-Ju5eDdWCNgH0FlRrYFvKx3iWDWwwt4wtGT_lH8&v=1&r=https%3a%2f%2fwiki.openmrs.org%2fay% 2fprojects%2fOpenMRS%2bFHIR%2bModule%2b%2bInitial%2bdesign&p=DevEx,506 6.1

What is Interoperability? (2017, March 15). Retrieved April 05, 2017, from.

http://www.himss.org/library/interoperability-standards/what-is-interoperability

Brull, R. (2013, March 26). Blog. Retrieved April 05, 2017, from

http://healthstandards.com/blog/2013/03/26/hl7-fhir/

All Published Versions of FHIR. (n.d.). Retrieved April 05, 2017, from

http://www.hl7.org/fhir/directory.html

FHIR in FIVE minutes. (n.d.). Retrieved April 05, 2017, from <u>http://ehealth-aussie.blogspot.com/2014/11/fhir-next-gen-toolset-for-hl7.html</u>

Parry, J. (2013, August 07). Magpi: providing low-cost access to real-time health data. Retrieved April 05, 2017, from <u>https://www.theguardian.com/global-development-</u> professionals-network/2013/aug/07/magpi-health-data-collection-ict4d

About OpenMRS. (n.d.). Retrieved April 05, 2017, from http://openmrs.org/about/

Dahiya, N., & Kakkar, A. K. (2016). Mobile health: Applications in tackling the Ebola challenge. Retrieved April 05, 2017, from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4943139/

SURVEILLANCE IN LOW RESOURCE SETTINGS

All in One. (n.d.). Retrieved September 10, 2017, from

https://www.vecnacares.org/

Think inside the box. (n.d.). Retrieved September 10, 2017, from https://www.vecnacares.org/solutions/hardware/

Mobile health with a backbone. (n.d.). Retrieved November 12, 2017, from https://www.vecnacares.org/solutions/clinipak/

Mohammed-Rajput, N. A., Smith, D. C., Mamlin, B., Biondich, P., Doebbeling, B. N., & for the Open MRS Collaborative Investigators. (2011). OpenMRS, A Global Medical Records System Collaborative: Factors Influencing Successful Implementation. AMIA Annual Symposium Proceedings, 2011, 960–968.

Newell, B. J., Pittman, J. C., Pagano, H. P., Barron, J. S., & Apenteng, B. A. (2015). Responding to the 2014 Ebola Outbreak: The Value of Effective Interprofessional Communication During Emergency Response. Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness,10(04), 639-640. doi:10.1017/dmp.2015.131 West, D. M. (March 2015.). Using mobile technology to improve maternal health and fight Ebola: a case study of mobile innovation in Nigeria [Pdf]. Retrieved November 11, 2017, from http://www.insidepolitics.org/brookingsreports/NigeriaMHealth.pdf

Riverbed.WAN optimization (n.d.). Retrieved on November 12, 2017, from https://www.riverbed.com/solutions/wan-optimization.html

One-year epidemiology of febrile diseases on the Emergency Department of a Caribbean island: the Curaçao-experience Limper, M. et al. International Journal of Infectious Diseases, Volume 14, e201 - e202. Retrieved November 11,2017, from http://www.ijidonline.com/article/S1201-9712(10)01975-2/abstract

CLIMATE CHANGE AND PUBLIC HEALTH ZIKA VIRUS

World Health Organization, The History of Zika Virus. (n.d.). Retrieved July 5, 2017, from http://www.who.int/emergencies/zika-virus/history/en/

Balogun EO, Nok AJ, Kita K. Global warming and the possible globalization of vectorborne diseases: a call for increased awareness and action. Tropical Medicine and Health. 2016; 44:38. doi: 10.1186/s41182-016-0039-0.

U. S Global Health Research Program, Vector Borne Diseases, Key findings. (n.d.). Retrieved July 5, 2017, from <u>https://health2016.globalchange.gov/vectorborne-diseases</u> J Vector Borne Dis 53, December 2016, pp. 305–311 Zika virus infection: Past and present of another emerging vector-borne disease Hercules Sakkas1, Vangelis Economou2 & Chrysanth Papadopoulou1

Heukelbach J, et al. Zika virus outbreak in Brazil. J Infect Dev Ctries 2016; 10(2) : 116– 20. Retrieved July 8, 2017, from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=Zika++++virus+outbreak+in+Brazil.+J+I nfect+Dev+Ctries+2016%3B+10(2)%3A+116-20

Epidemiological Update Neurological syndrome, congenital anomalies, and Zika virus infection. (2016, January 17). Retrieved July 8, 2017, from http://www2.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_docman&task=doc_view&Itemid=270

<u>&gid=32879&lang=en</u>

Journal of Neuroimmunology, 308, 50-64. (2017). Retrieved July 7, 2017, from http://www.jni-journal.com/article/S0165-5728(16)30483-0/pdf

Chen I. C. et al. Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. Science 333, 1024–1026(2011). Rerieved July 8,2017, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21852500

Ilia, R. et al. (2016, December 06). Anthropogenic impacts on mosquito populations in North America over the past century. Nature Communications,7, 13604. Retrieved July 7, 2017, from <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/ncomms13604</u> Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Zika Virus. Symptoms, Diagnosis and Treatment. Last Updated: June 21,2016.CDC USA Website.. Retrieved July 8,2017 from https://www.cdc.gov/zika/symptoms/index.html

Chen, H., & Tang, R. (2016). Why Zika virus infection has become a public health concern? Journal of the Chinese Medical Association, 79(4), 174-178. doi: 10.1016/j.jcma.2016.03.001

Zika virus country classification scheme: interim guidance. March 2017. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017. Licence: CC BY-NC- SA 3.0 IGO. Retrieved July7, 2017 from http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/254619/1/WHO-ZIKV-SUR-17.1-eng.pdf

Situation report Zika virus microcephaly guillain-barré syndrome. (2017, March). Retrieved July 7, 2017, from

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/254714/1/zikasitrep10Mar17-eng.pdf?ua=1

Zika situation report. (n.d.). Retrieved July 08, 2017, from

http://www.who.int/emergencies/zika-virus/situation-report/10-march-2017/en/

Draft programmatic environmental assessment mosquito control activities funded by CDC to combat Zika virus transmission in the United States U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (January 9, 2017). Retrieved July 08, 2017. from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/zika/pdfs/Draft-Environmental-Assessment-Mosquito-Control-for-publication.pdf</u>

Garcia, E., Yaktayo, S., Nishino, K., Millot, V., Perea, W., & Briand, S. (2016). Zika virus infection: global update on epidemiology and potentially associated clinical manifestations. Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases,7(91), 73-88. Retrieved July 7, 2017, from http://www.who.int/wer/2016/wer9107.pdf?ua=1

Reagan-Steiner S, Simeone R, Simon E. et al. Rvaluation of placenta and Fetal Tissue Specimen for Zika Virus Infection- 50 States and District of Columbia, January-December 2016. MMWR Morb Mottal Wkly Rep 2017; 66:636-643. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/org/10.15585/mmwr.mmwr.mm6624a3.

BRAIN EATING AMOEBA

Belavadi, V., Karaba, N. N., & Gangadharappa, N. (2017). Agriculture under climate

change: Threats, strategies and policies. New Delhi: Allied Pvt. Ltd.

Parasites - Naegleria fowleri - Primary Amebic Meningoencephalitis (PAM) - Amebic Encephalitis. (2017, February 28). Retrieved July 26, 2017, from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/parasites/naegleria/sinus-rinsing.html</u>

Yoder, J. S., Eddy, B. A., Visvesvara, G. S., Capewell, L., & Beach, M. J. (2009). The epidemiology of primary amoebic meningoencephalitis in the USA, 1962–2008. *Epidemiology and Infection, 138*(07), 968-975. doi:10.1017/s0950268809991014

Cabanes, P., Wallet, F., Pringuez, E., & Pernin, P. (2001). Assessing the Risk of Primary Amoebic Meningoencephalitis from Swimming in the Presence of Environmental Naegleria fowleri. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *67*(7), 2927-2931. doi:10.1128/aem.67.7.2927-2931.2001

Parasites - Naegleria fowleri - Primary Amebic Meningoencephalitis (PAM) - Amebic Encephalitis. (2017, February 28). Retrieved July 26, 2017, from https://www.cdc.gov/parasites/naegleria/prevention.html

Siddiqui, R., & Khan, N. A. (2014). Primary Amoebic Meningoencephalitis Caused by Naegleria fowleri: An Old Enemy Presenting New Challenges. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 8(8). doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0003017 Parasites - Naegleria fowleri - Primary Amebic Meningoencephalitis (PAM) - Amebic Encephalitis. (2017, February 28). Retrieved July 26, 2017, from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/parasites/naegleria/general.html</u>

Nachmany, M., Fankhauser, S., Setzer, J., & Averchenkova, E. (2017). *Global trends in climate change legislation and litigation* (Publication). Grantham Research Institute of Climate Change and the Environment.

Parasites - Naegleria fowleri - Primary Amebic Meningoencephalitis (PAM) - Amebic Encephalitis. (2017, February 28). Retrieved July 26, 2017, from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/parasites/naegleria/sinus-rinsing.html</u>

Cursons, R. T., Brown, T. J., & Keys, E. A. (1980). Effect of Disinfectants on Pathogenic Free-Living Amoebae: in Axenic Conditions. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *40*(1), 62-66. Retrieved July 26, 2017, from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC291525/pdf/aem00237-0070.pdf

Air Pollution: Current and Future Challenges. (2017, June 07). Retrieved July 26, 2017, from <u>https://www.epa.gov/clean-air-act-overview/air-pollution-current-and-future-</u> challenges Collins, William, Collins, William, Colman, Robert, Haywood, James, Manning, Martin R., & Mote, Philip. (2007). The physical science behind climate change. *Scientific American*, 297(2). doi:10.1038/scientificamerican0807-64

Marcogliese, D. (n.d.). The impact of climate change on the parasites and infectious diseases of aquatic animals. *Rev Sci Tech*, 2008, 27(2), 467-484.

Parasites - Naegleria fowleri - Primary Amebic Meningoencephalitis (PAM) - Amebic Encephalitis. (2017, February 28). Retrieved July 26, 2017, from

https://www.cdc.gov/parasites/naegleria/pdf/naegleria-state-map-2016.pdf.pdf